A SUMMARY OF ELECTION OFFENSES AND PENALTIES



Attorney General Jeff Landry

Louisiana Department of Justice



A Message from Attorney General Jeff Landry

As your Attorney General, I am committed to ensuring the Louisiana Department of Justice serves all of our State's people – including those seeking public office.

So we have compiled this booklet to assist you during the campaign process, from the qualifying period through Election Day.

Please review the enclosed election laws, offenses, and penalties. Please also read carefully the excerpts from Attorney General opinions discussing these laws.

If you would like more information or would like to ask any questions, please visit www.AGJeffLandry.com or call 225-326-6000.

I take seriously my oath to uphold the Constitution and rule of law. And I will work closely with you to ensure the Louisiana Election Code is followed.

Together – let's make Louisiana an even better place to live, work, and raise a family.

Sincerely,

Jeff Landry

TABLE OF CONTENTS

18:1461	Bribery of voters; penalties	5
18:1461.1	Coercion; prohibited practices; penalties	6
18:1461.2	Election offenses affecting registration and election fraud or forgery; penalties	8
18:1461.3	Election offenses affecting election officials or watchers; penalties	9
18:1461.4	Election offenses involving threats or intimidation of voters; penalties	9
18:1461.5	Election offenses involving bribery, threats or intimidation of election officials or candidates; penalties	10
18:1461.6	Election offenses involving tampering with election equipment; penalties	11
18:1461.7	Miscellaneous election offenses; penalties	11
18:1461.8	Election offense; candidate; forfeiture of office	12
18:1462	Acts prohibited during early voting or on election day; electioneering; intimidation; exceptions; enforcement; penalties	13
18:1463	Political material; ethics; prohibitions	15
18:1463.1	Telephone campaign communications; disclosure	18
18:1464	Excessive charge for political advertisements prohibited; penalty	20

18:1465	Prohibited use of public funds	20
18:1466	Definitions	22
18:1467	Conviction in fraudulent vote cases; prohibition from employment in elections	22
18:1468	Contributions in return for endorsement; prohibition	23
18:1469	Bribery of a candidate; crime defined; penalty	23
18:1470	Political advertising; prohibition	23
18:1471	Temporary restraining order; notice; hearing	24
18:1472	Election offenses informational packet for candidates	24

STATE OF LOUISIANA'S ELECTION OFFENSES AND PENALTIES

The Louisiana Election Code, La. R.S. 18:1 *et seq.*, regulates the conduct of elections. Sections 1461 through 1471, which are listed below, provide for election offenses and penalties. Also included herein are references to Attorney General Opinions which discuss these statutory provisions.

§1461. Bribery of voters; penalties

- A. (1) Bribery of voters is the giving or offering to give, directly or indirectly, any money, or anything of apparent present or prospective value to any voter at any general, primary, or special election, or at any convention of a recognized political party, with the intent to influence the voter in the casting of his ballot. The acceptance of, or the offer to accept, directly or indirectly, any money, or anything of apparent present or prospective value, by any such voters under such circumstances shall also constitute bribery of voters.
- (2) Bribery of voters is also the giving or offering to give, directly or indirectly, any money or anything of apparent present or prospective value to secure or influence registration of a person or to secure or influence a person to sign or not sign a recall or other election petition.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than four thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both, for the first offense. On a second offense, or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than ten thousand dollars or imprisonment at hard labor for not more than five years, or both.
- C. In the trial of persons charged with bribery of voters either the bribe-giver or the bribe-taker may give evidence, or make affidavit against the other, and may receive immunity from prosecution in favor of the first informer, except for perjury in giving such testimony.
- D. In addition to any other penalty imposed pursuant to this Section, the court may order restitution as a part of the sentence. Restitution may include payment for any costs incurred, including reasonable attorney fees, by a candidate who brought an action contesting an election wherein the court found that one or more of the votes cast in the contested election were illegal based on the actions of the defendant and the court changed the result of the election or ordered a new election to be held.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 01-390 There is no violation of La. R.S. 18:1461 or La. R.S. 18:1462(A)(1) in distributing caps and shirts with statements seeking a vote for a candidate in an election inasmuch as such items confer no pecuniary benefit.

§1461.1. Coercion; prohibited practices; penalties

- A. (1) No person shall knowingly coerce or attempt to coerce another person to give or withhold a contribution to influence the nomination or election of a person to the office of president or vice president of the United States, presidential elector, delegate to a political party convention, United States senator, United States congressman, or political party office.
- (2) No person based on an individual's contribution, promise to make a contribution, or failure to make a contribution to influence the nomination or election of a person to any of the offices listed in this Subsection shall directly or indirectly affect an individual's employment by means of:
 - (a) Denial or deprivation or the threat of the denial or deprivation of any employment or position.
 - (b) Denial or deprivation or the threat of the denial or deprivation of the loss of any compensation, payment, benefit, or other emolument derived from or related to such employment or position.
 - (c) Discharge, promotion, degradation, or change in any manner in rank, status, or classification, or the threat or promise to do so.
- (3)(a) No person based on an individual's contribution, promise to make a contribution, or failure to make any contribution to influence the nomination or election of a person to any of the offices listed in this Subsection shall directly or indirectly affect an individual by means of:
 - (i) Denial or deprivation or the threat of the denial or deprivation of membership or participation in any organization.
 - (ii) Denial or deprivation or the threat of the denial or deprivation of the loss of any compensation, payment, benefit, or other emolument derived from or related to such membership or participation in any organization.
 - (iii) Discharge, promotion, degradation, or change in any manner in rank, status, or classification in any organization, or the threat or promise to do so.
- (b)(i) No organization shall directly or indirectly have as a condition of membership or participation, the requirement that a person make a contribution to such organization which will be used by such organization for the purpose of supporting, opposing, or otherwise influencing the nomination or election of a person to any of the offices listed in this Subsection, for the purpose of supporting or opposing a proposition or question submitted to the voters, or for the purpose of supporting or opposing the recall of a public officer.

- (ii) For the purposes of this Subparagraph, "contribution" shall have the same meaning as provided for in R.S. 18:1483(6) and shall also include any dues or membership fees of any organization.
- (c) For the purposes of this Paragraph, "organization" shall mean a partnership, association, labor union, political committee, corporation, or other legal entity, including their subsidiaries.
- (4) No political committee, candidate, or other person shall knowingly and willfully make a contribution or expenditure using funds which were obtained through any practice prohibited by this Section.
- (5) Any contribution received by a candidate, political committee, or other person who makes expenditures or receives contributions which was obtained through practices prohibited in this Subsection shall escheat to the state and shall be paid over to the state by such candidate, political committee, or such other person.
- (6) Penalties for violations of any of the provisions of this Section shall be as provided in R.S. 18:1461(B).
- B. Terms used in this Section shall be defined as in Chapter 11 of this Title except that, for purposes of this Section:
 - (1) "Candidate" shall mean a person who seeks nomination or election to the office of president or vice president of the United States, presidential elector, delegate to a political party convention, United States senator, United States congressman, or political party office. An individual shall be deemed to seek nomination or election to such office if he has, since prior participation in an election, if any, received and accepted a contribution or made an expenditure, or has given his consent for any other person or committee to receive a contribution or make an expenditure with a view to influencing his nomination or election to such office, or taken the action necessary under the laws of the state of Louisiana to qualify himself for nomination or election to such office.
 - (2) "Person who makes expenditures or receives contributions" shall mean any person, other than a candidate or a political committee, who makes any expenditure or who accepts a contribution, other than to or from a candidate or to or from a political committee, if either said expenditures or said contributions exceed five hundred dollars in the aggregate during the aggregating period provided in the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act which would be applicable to candidates as defined in this Subsection if they were candidates for purposes of the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act.

§1461.2. Election offenses affecting registration and election fraud or forgery; penalties

- A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:
 - (1) Vote or attempt to vote more than once at an election.
 - (2) Vote or attempt to vote, knowing that he is not qualified, or influence or attempt to influence another to vote, knowing such voter to be unqualified or the vote to be fraudulent.
 - (3) Register, vote, or attempt to register or vote in the name of another or in an assumed or fictitious name, or in any manner other than as provided in this Title.
 - (4) Forge the name of another or use a fictitious name on an affidavit or document required under this Title.
 - (5) Procure or submit voter registration applications that are known by the person to be materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent.
 - (6) Forge, alter, add to, deface, take, destroy, or remove from proper custodial care any book, card, record, voter registration application, election return, nomination papers, withdrawals of candidacy, election supplies, election paraphernalia, or any affidavit or other document required or provided for under the provisions of this Title, unless required to be removed by a court of competent jurisdiction for inspection and photostatic copying for the court record.
 - (7) Have in his possession an official ballot in violation of any provision of this Title.
 - (8) Have in his possession the registration certificate of another with intent to violate any provision of this Title.
 - (9) For purposes other than fulfilling the person's duties relative to registration of voters as provided by law, copy or reproduce a voter registration application that has been submitted by an applicant.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both, for the first offense. On a second offense, or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than five thousand dollars or imprisonment at hard labor for not more than five years, or both.

§1461.3. Election offenses affecting election officials or watchers; penalties

A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:

- (1) Being an election official, permit fraudulent votes to be cast, or knowingly count votes not entitled to be cast.
- (2) Fail, refuse, or neglect to discharge any duty imposed upon him, either individually or in an official capacity, by any provision of this Title.
- (3) Supply a false answer or statement to an election official or in any document required by this Title, or execute an affidavit knowing it to contain false or incorrect information.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of Subsection A of this Section shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both.
- C. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:
 - (1) Being a registrar, deputy registrar, commissioner-in-charge or commissioner fail to identify an applicant to vote as required by this Title.
 - (2) Sign another voter's name in the precinct register.
 - (3) Attempt to influence an election official or watcher in the performance of his duties on election day.
 - (4) Disobey any lawful instruction of a registrar, deputy registrar, commissioner-in-charge or commissioner or a law enforcement officer providing assistance to maintain order at a polling place.
- D. Whoever violates any provision of Subsection C of this Section shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars or be imprisoned in the parish jail for not more than six months, or both.

§1461.4. Election offenses involving threats or intimidation of voters; penalties

A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:

(1) Intimidate, deceive, or misinform, directly or indirectly, any voter or prospective voter in matters concerning voting or nonvoting or voter registration or nonregistration, or the signing or not signing of a petition, including but not limited to any matter concerning the voluntary affiliation or nonaffiliation of a voter with any political party.

- (2) While in the voting booth assisting another person in voting, coerce, compel, or otherwise influence the assisted voter to cast his vote in a certain way.
- (3) Intimidate a person by the use of violence, force, or threats with the intent to influence that person's decision to vote or to impede such person's ingress or egress from a polling place.
- (4) Without lawful authority, obstruct, hinder, or delay any voter on his way to or while returning home from any polling place where an election is being held or on his way to or while returning home from a place where he can legally exercise a vote concerning candidate representation of his party.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both, for the first offense. On a second offense, or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than five thousand dollars or imprisonment at hard labor for not more than five years, or both.

§1461.5. Election offenses involving bribery, threats or intimidation of election officials or candidates; penalties

A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:

- (1) Offer money or anything of apparent present or prospective value or use, directly or indirectly, or engage in any form of intimidation to influence the action or encourage inaction of any election official with regard to the duties of his office.
- (2) Give or offer to give, directly or indirectly, any money or anything of apparent present or prospective value to any person who has withdrawn or who was eliminated prior or subsequent to the primary election as a candidate for public office, for the purpose of securing or giving his political support to any remaining candidate or candidates for public office in the primary or general election.
- (3) When such person is a candidate for public office who has withdrawn or was eliminated prior to or subsequent to the primary election, accept or offer to accept, directly or indirectly, any money, or anything of apparent present or prospective value that is given for the purpose of securing or giving his political support to any remaining candidate or candidates for public office in the primary or general election.
- (4)(a) Give or offer to give, directly or indirectly, any money or any thing of apparent present or prospective value to a candidate for public office for the purpose of securing the candidate's withdrawal from an election.

- (b) Solicit or accept, directly or indirectly, money or any thing of apparent present or prospective value to secure the withdrawal from an election of a candidate for public office.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both, for the first offense. On a second offense, or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than five thousand dollars or imprisonment at hard labor for not more than five years, or both.
- C. In the trial of a person charged with a violation of this Section, either the bribe-giver or the bribe-taker may give evidence, or make affidavit against the other, and may receive immunity from prosecution in favor of the first informer, except for perjury in giving such testimony.

§1461.6. Election offenses involving tampering with election equipment; penalties

A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:

- (1) Prior to an election, during transit to a polling place, during early voting, during election day voting or while in storage awaiting certification of election results, with intent to defraud, tamper with any voting equipment so as to attempt to influence the accurate and timely reporting of election results.
- (2) Unlawfully, directly or indirectly, possess, tamper with, break, impair, impede, or otherwise interfere with the maintenance, adjustment, delivery, use, or operation of any voting machine or part thereof or with any of the paraphernalia connected with or appertaining thereto.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than ten thousand dollars or be imprisoned at hard labor for not more than five years, or both.

§1461.7. Miscellaneous election offenses; penalties

A. No person shall knowingly, willfully, or intentionally:

- (1) Fail to submit to the parish registrar of voters a completed registration application collected through a registration drive within thirty days of receipt of the completed application from the applicant.
- (2) As a voter, election official, watcher, or person assisting a voter, allow a ballot to be seen, except as provided by law; announce the manner in which a person

has cast his ballot; place a distinguishing mark on a ballot with intent to make the ballot identifiable, or make a false statement concerning ability to mark a ballot without assistance.

- (3) When assisting a voter in voting, fail to mark the ballot or vote in the manner dictated by the voter.
- (4) Being a physician, certify to the disability of a voter under this Title or certify that a person will be hospitalized on election day, knowing such information to be false.
- (5) Breach any mandatory provision of this Title.
- B. Whoever violates any provision of Subsection A of this Section shall be fined not more than one thousand dollars or be imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. On a second offense, or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than two thousand five hundred dollars or imprisonment for not more than five years, or both.

C. No person shall:

- (1) Possess any beverage of alcoholic content in a polling place after having been directed by a registrar or deputy registrar, commissioner-in-charge, commissioner or law enforcement officer providing assistance to maintain order at the polling place to remove or dispose of the beverage.
- (2) Appear at a polling place in an intoxicated condition.
- (3) Carry or possess a firearm while present in a polling place, except a peace officer as defined by R.S. 40:2402(3)(a), in the performance of his official duties.
- D. Whoever violates any provision of Subsection C of this Section shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars or be imprisoned for not more than six months, or both. On a second offense or any subsequent offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both.

§1461.8. Election offense; candidate; forfeiture of office

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary and in addition to the penalties provided in R.S. 18:1461 through 1461.7, any candidate who is elected to public office and is convicted of an election offense as provided in R. S. 18:1461, 1461.2(A)(2) or (4), 1461.3(A)(3), 1461.4(A)(1) and 1461.5(A)(2) that is related to his campaign for such public office shall forfeit such public office. If such conviction becomes final prior to the candidate taking the oath of office for such public office, the candidate shall forfeit the public office and shall not be allowed to hold such public office

and such public office shall be declared vacant at the time such conviction becomes final. If the conviction for such election offense does not become final until after such candidate has taken the oath of office for such public office, then, at the time such conviction becomes final, he shall forfeit such public office and shall be, ipso facto, removed from such public office and such public office shall be declared vacant.

B. However, if such candidate held such public office at the time of the commission of the election offense, he shall be allowed to serve the remainder of the term he was then serving, but, at the time his conviction for the election offense becomes final, he shall forfeit the public office for the subsequent term. If he has taken the oath of office for the subsequent term, he shall, at the time the conviction for the election offense becomes final, forfeit such public office and shall be, ipso facto, removed from such public office and such public office shall be declared vacant.

C. Any vacancy in a public office occurring as a result of the provisions of this Section shall be filled as in the case of ordinary vacancies and according to the constitution and laws of the state.

§1462. Acts prohibited during early voting or on election day; electioneering; intimidation; exceptions; enforcement; penalties

A. The Legislature of Louisiana recognizes that the right to vote is a right that is essential to the effective operation of a democratic government. Due to a past, longstanding history of election problems, such as multiple voting, votes being recorded for persons who did not vote, votes being recorded for deceased persons, voting by non-residents, vote buying, and voter intimidation, the legislature finds that the state has a compelling interest in securing a person's right to vote in an environment which is free from intimidation, harassment, confusion, obstruction, and undue influence. The legislature, therefore, enacts this Subsection to provide for a six hundred foot campaign-free zone around polling places to provide to each voter such an environment in which to exercise his right to vote. Except as otherwise specifically provided by law, it shall be unlawful for any person, between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m., to perform or cause to be performed any of the following acts within any polling place being used in an election on election day or during early voting, or within a radius of six hundred feet of the entrance to any polling place being used in an election on election day or during early voting:

- (1) To solicit in any manner or by any means whatsoever any other person to vote for or against any candidate or proposition being voted on in such election.
- (2) To remain within any such polling place or within a radius of six hundred feet of the entrance of any such polling place, except when exercising the right to vote, after having been directed by an election commissioner, law enforcement officer, registrar, or deputy registrar to leave the premises or area of a polling place.

- (3) To hand out, place, or display campaign cards, pictures, or other campaign literature of any kind or description whatsoever.
- (4) To place or display political signs, pictures, or other forms of political advertising.
- (5) To circulate a recall petition or seek handwritten signatures to a recall petition.
- B. The provisions hereof shall not apply to the placing and displaying, either by the owner, lessee, or lawful occupant thereof, or with the consent of such owner, lessee or occupant, of political signs or pictures on private property which is not being used as a polling place.
- C. The provisions of this Section shall not be construed as prohibiting any appointed election commissioner or any official watcher from remaining in and about the polling place in which he was selected to serve.
- D. No election official shall wear any badge, button, pin, or other insignia identifying him with any political candidate or faction.
- E. No election official shall in any manner attempt to influence any voter to vote for or against any candidate or proposition being voted on in the election being held in that polling place.
- F. The duly constituted law enforcement officers of the political subdivision in which any such election is being held shall enforce the provisions of this Section when requested to do so by a registrar, deputy registrar, commissioner-in-charge or commissioner. The registrar, deputy registrars, commissioners-in-charge and commissioners likewise shall enforce the provisions of this Section at the polling places. The law enforcement officers, commissioners-in-charge, commissioners, deputy registrars and registrar are authorized to seize, remove, and destroy any political cards, signs, pictures, or literature being used or displayed in violation of any of the provisions hereof.
- G. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars or be imprisoned for not more than six months, or both. On a second offense or any succeeding offense, the penalty shall be a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or imprisonment for not more than one year, or both.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 79-1128 Election commissioners are authorized to enforce the provisions of La. R.S. 18:1462. The commissioners should not allow a voter to come within 600 feet of a polling place if the voter is wearing clothing upon which is imprinted the name of a candidate.

- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-657 There is no authority which requires a commissioner to determine periodically, for the press, the number of persons who have cast their ballots.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-911 La. R.S. 18:1462 is not designed to preclude the operation of telephone banks within a private building that is located within a 600 foot radius of the polling place. Political signs or pictures may be displayed on private property which is located within the 600 foot radius of a polling place.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-934 A candidate may not loiter within a 600 foot radius of a polling place, shaking hands with voters, for purposes of soliciting votes. The prohibition against electioneering also precludes a candidate or a candidate's supporter from parking trucks displaying political signs within a 600 foot radius to the entrance of the polls.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 91-285 This section does not prohibit a person, whether a private citizen or a person listed as alternate watcher but not performing in such capacity, from entering a polling place to simply collect notes and information from the watcher.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 92-650(A) A recall petition may be distributed at a distance greater than 600 feet from the polling place on election day.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 96-63 The question of whether a "Yes I voted Today" sticker constitutes electioneering within 600 feet of the polling place is a fact question which hinges upon an interpretation of the circumstances surrounding the facts.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 05-0101 Exit polls conducted by the media are permissible within 600 feet of the polling place.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 14-0039 La. R.S. 18:1462(A) is applicable to a residential dwelling located inside a building that is being used as a polling place.

§1463. Political material; ethics; prohibitions

A. The Legislature of Louisiana finds that the state has a compelling interest in taking every necessary step to assure that all elections are held in a fair and ethical manner and finds that an election cannot be held in a fair and ethical manner when any candidate or other person is allowed to print or distribute any material which falsely alleges that a candidate is supported by or affiliated with another candidate, group of candidates, or other person, or a political faction, or to publish statements that make scurrilous, false, or irresponsible adverse comments about a candidate or a proposition. The legislature further finds that the state has a compelling interest to protect the electoral process and that the people have an interest in knowing the identity of each

candidate whose number appears on a sample ballot in order to be fully informed and to exercise their right to vote for a candidate of their choice. The legislature further finds that it is essential to the protection of the electoral process that the people be able to know who is responsible for publications in order to more properly evaluate the statements contained in them and to informatively exercise their right to vote. The legislature further finds that it is essential to the protection of the electoral process to prohibit misrepresentation that a person, committee, or organization speaks, writes, or acts on behalf of a candidate, political committee, or political party, or an agent or employee thereof.

- B. (1) No person shall cause to be printed or assist in the distribution, transportation, or transmission by any means of any facsimile of an official ballot or cause to be printed, distributed, transported, or transmitted any unofficial sample ballot with the number of a candidate unless the name of the candidate to whom the ballot number was assigned is correctly listed on the ballot.
- (2) No person shall cause to be printed or assist in the distribution, transportation, or transmission by any means of any facsimile of an official ballot, or cause to be printed, distributed, transported, or transmitted any unofficial sample ballot containing a photograph, or likeness of any person which falsely alleges, with an intent to misrepresent, that any person or candidate, or group of candidates in an election is endorsed by or supported by another candidate, group of candidates or other person.
- C. (1) No person shall cause to be distributed, or transmitted, any oral, visual, or written material containing any statement which he knows or should be reasonably expected to know makes a false statement about a candidate for election in a primary or general election or about a proposition to be submitted to the voters.
- (2) Whenever any person, political committee, entity or organization makes a disbursement for the purpose of the financing of any electioneering communication, such communication shall comply with the following items under the following circumstances:
 - (a) If the communication is paid for and authorized by a candidate, an authorized political committee of a candidate, or its agents, it shall clearly state that the communication has been paid for by such authorized political committee. The name of the political committee paying for the communication shall be given in full and no acronyms shall be used.
 - (b) If the communication is paid for by other persons, but authorized by a candidate, an authorized political committee of a candidate, or its agents, it shall clearly state that the communication is paid for by such other persons and authorized by such authorized political committee. The name of the authorized political committee shall be given in full and no acronyms shall be used.

- (c) If the communication is not authorized by a candidate, a political committee of a candidate, or its agents, it shall clearly state the (i) name, (ii) physical address (not post office box), and (iii) telephone number and the world-wide web address if available of the person, committee, entity or organization who paid for the communication and state that the communication is not authorized by any candidate or candidate committee. The name of the payer shall be given in full and no acronyms shall be used.
- (3) If an individual, association, organization, committee, or corporation is responsible for or causes the distribution or transmission of any statements relative to candidates or propositions which do not fully disclose the name of the individual or the name of the association, organization, committee, or corporation, and the full and correct name and address of its chairman or other chief administrative officer and whether or not such individual, association, organization, committee, or corporation supports or opposes such candidate or proposition, such individual, association, organization, committee, or corporation shall report all expenditures incurred in relation to the publication, distribution, transportation, or transmission in accordance with R.S. 18:1491.7, 1495.5, or 1501.1.
- (4)(a) No person shall misrepresent himself or any committee or organization under his control as speaking, writing, or otherwise acting for or on behalf of any candidate, political committee, or political party, or any employee or agent thereof.
- (b) No person shall willfully and knowingly participate in or conspire to participate in a plan, scheme, or design to misrepresent himself or any committee or organization under his control or under the control of any other participant in the plan, scheme, or design as speaking, writing, or otherwise acting for or on behalf of any candidate, political committee, or political party, or any employee or agent thereof.
- (c) A radio or television broadcaster who broadcasts a paid political announcement or advertisement, the content of which the broadcaster had no input in or control over, is not subject to the provisions of this Paragraph.
- (5) For purposes of Paragraph (2) of this Subsection, the term "electioneering communication" means any broadcast, cable, or satellite communication that refers to a legally qualified candidate for elected office and is broadcast within sixty days before any election in which such candidate is on the ballot.
- D. (1) An affected candidate or voter shall be entitled to an injunction to restrain future violations of Subsections B and C of this Section.
- (2) In the event a permanent injunction is granted, reasonable attorney fees shall be allowed the petitioner by the court which shall be taxed as costs to be paid by the defendant.

E. No person shall cause to be distributed or transmitted for or on behalf of a candidate for political office any oral, visual, or written material constituting a paid political announcement or advertisement, which is paid for by a third-party entity, without providing the name of the third-party entity on the face of the advertisement. The name of the third-party entity shall be included on written material, political announcements and advertisements so that it is clear and understandable. The name of the third-party entity in visual and oral political announcements or advertisements shall be included so that it is clearly understandable as well as audible and visible for not less than three seconds. If the advertisement is placed by a public relations firm, advertising agency, media buyer, or other person who purchases media advertising or time or space for such advertising, such person shall provide the information required by this Section. For the purposes of this Subsection, "person" means any individual, partnership, association, labor union, political committee, corporation, or other legal entity, including its subsidiaries; however, "person" shall not mean any radio station, television broadcast station, cable television company, or newspaper.

- F. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-934 Pursuant to La. R.S. 18:1463(B) no person may print or distribute a ballot that falsely alleges that a candidate is supported or affiliated with another candidate, other person, or political faction.

§1463.1. Telephone campaign communications; disclosure

- A. The Legislature of Louisiana finds that the state has a compelling interest in protecting the integrity of the electoral process and in assuring that the voters are able to know who is responsible for telephone campaign communications in order to more properly evaluate the statements contained in them and to cast a more informed vote. The legislature further finds that it is essential to the protection of the electoral process to prohibit misrepresentation that a person, committee, or organization speaks on behalf of a candidate, political committee, or an agent thereof.
- B. (1) No person shall make or cause to be made any telephone call or automated call expressly advocating support or opposition of a candidate, or elected public official, or ballot proposition unless the call identifies the source of the call as provided in this Section.
- (2) The source of a call shall be identified as follows:
 - (a) If the call is paid for and authorized by a candidate, a principal or subsidiary committee of a candidate, or an agent of a candidate or of such a committee, the call shall clearly state that the call has been paid for by the candidate or the committee, as applicable.

- (b) If the call is authorized by a candidate, a principal or subsidiary committee of a candidate, or an agent of a candidate or of such a committee, but is paid for by any other person, the call shall clearly state that the call is authorized by such candidate or committee, or agent on behalf of such candidate or committee, as applicable.
- (c) If the call is authorized by a political committee that is not a principal or subsidiary committee of a candidate, or by an agent of such a committee, and is paid for by such committee or agent or by any other person, the call shall clearly state that the call is authorized by such committee.
- (d) If the call is not authorized by a candidate, a principal or subsidiary committee of a candidate, any other political committee, or an agent of a candidate or of a political committee, and is paid for by any other person, the call shall clearly state who authorized the call.

(3) This Subsection shall not apply to:

- (a) Any telephone call in which the individual making the call is not being paid and the individuals participating in the call knew each other prior to the call.
- (b) Any telephone call or automated call that is conducted to collect information, including message testing, or for the purpose of polling respondents concerning a candidate, elected public official, or ballot proposition, which is a part of a series of like telephone calls that consists of fewer than one thousand five hundred completed calls that average more than two minutes in duration. Such a call is presumed to be a scientific poll and not a campaign communication subject to the provisions of this Subsection.
- C. (1) No person shall make or cause to be made any telephone call or automated call that states or implies that the caller represents any candidate, political committee, or any other person or organization unless the candidate, political committee, person, or organization so represented has given specific approval to the person paying for the call in writing to make such representation. The person who pays for any call subject to the provisions of this Section shall maintain records of all such calls. The person shall also maintain a copy of all such written approvals he has received as required by this Paragraph and shall file a copy of each with the secretary of state before the calls authorized by such approval commence. The filing may be accomplished by facsimile transmission as long as within two days, exclusive of legal holidays, the original approvals received are forwarded by United States mail to the secretary of state.
- (2)(a) No person shall make or cause to be made any telephone call or automated call supporting or opposing a candidate, with the knowledge and cooperation of a candidate or a political committee of a candidate, unless the person has received the prior written approval of such candidate or committee.

- (b) A copy of each written approval required by this Subsection shall be filed with the secretary of state by the candidate prior to the time the calls authorized by such approval commence. The filing may be accomplished by facsimile transmission as long as within two days, exclusive of legal holidays, the original approvals received are forwarded by United States mail to the secretary of state.
- D. For purposes of this Section, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:
 - (1) "Automated call" includes any call using a prerecorded or artificial voice as part of a calling campaign to deliver information.
 - (2) "Candidate", "person", "political committee" or "committee", "principal campaign committee", "subsidiary committee", and "public office" shall have the meanings provided in R.S. 18:1483.
 - (3) "Elected public official" means an individual who holds public office.
 - (4) "Message testing" means studying for research purposes how individuals react to positive or negative information on a candidate, elected public official, or ballot proposition.
- E. Whoever violates any provision of this Section may be punished by a civil fine not to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars. Upon a second or subsequent violation, the penalty shall be a civil fine not to exceed five thousand dollars.

§1464. Excessive charge for political advertisements prohibited; penalty

A. No daily, bi-weekly, weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly newspaper, journal, periodical, or other publication and no radio station, television station, or chain or network of radio or television stations operating in this state shall assess or charge for political announcements and advertisements any amount which is in excess of the rates assessed and charged for regular commercial advertising.

B. Whoever violates this Section shall be fined not more than five hundred dollars or be imprisoned for not more than six months, or both.

§1465. Prohibited use of public funds

A. No public funds shall be used to urge any elector to vote for or against any candidate or proposition, or be appropriated to a candidate or political organization. This provision shall not prohibit the use of public funds for dissemination of factual information relative to a proposition appearing on an election ballot.

- B. Whoever violates any provision of this Section shall be fined not more than one thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than two years, or both.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-550 A candidate should not use a patrol car while actively campaigning for the office of sheriff.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 83-559 A chief of police need not take a leave of absence in order to campaign for the office of sheriff, if such political activity is confined to the off duty hours of the chief of police and further, if such activity does not interfere with the official responsibilities of said officer.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 90-126(A) Without specific, express authorization from the legislature by statute (i.e. drug education, economic development, etc.), the use of public funds to finance public relations techniques to manipulate public opinion on public issues to create a body of public opinion favorable to a public official or entity, is ultra vires. The use of public funds to provide a public information function to a state office is integral to its constitutional and/or statutory power and function and is lawful if its intent is to be factually informative to the public.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 91-216 Use of a public building for a campaign function for no fee would amount to the use of public funds and, therefore, would be in violation of La. R.S. 18:1465.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 93-78 A governmental entity may utilize public funds for the development and distribution of an informational poll so long as the information contained therein is purely factual information.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 96-62 A public entity, such as a school board, may not
 use public funds by way of using a public school bus to transport voters to the
 election polls. The law clearly prohibits the use of public funds for anything other
 than the dissemination of factual information relative to a proposition appearing
 on an election ballot.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 04-0370 La. Const. art. XI, § 4 and La. R.S. 18:1465(A) prohibit the use of public funds to urge the electorate to vote for any candidate or proposition, as well as the appropriation of public funds to any candidate or political organization.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 11-0195 The use of a Library's meeting room for no fee to urge any elector to vote for or against any candidate would be in violation of La. Const. art. XI, § 4 and La. R.S. 18:1465(A). But one is permitted to use the meeting room for such a purpose if the use is being paid for by private funds.

- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 14-0110 Campaign activities conducted while on-duty are a violation of La. Const. art. XI, § 4, which states that "no public funds shall be used to urge any elector to vote for or against any candidate or proposition, or be appropriated to a candidate or political organization...." The language of this constitutional provision also appears in La. R.S. 18:1465.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 14-0203 As we have noted in numerous prior opinions, political activity is allowed in public buildings when a sufficient fee for the building's use is charged and paid for with private funds. On the contrary, if no fee is charged for use of a public building, then public funds would be used, which would be considered a violation of La. R.S. 18:1465(A).
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 15-0161 The Jefferson Convention and Visitors Bureau, a non-profit that receives public funds from Jefferson Parish to promote tourism, is not prohibited from engaging in political activity. However, public funds may not be used for political activity, and public funds from the hotel occupancy tax proceeds are subject to the limitations of La. R.S. 47:338.203(D).

§1466. Definitions

As used in this Chapter, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the following terms shall have the meanings hereafter ascribed to each:

- (1) "Person" shall have the meaning ascribed to it by R.S. 1:10.
- (2) "Election official" means:
 - (a) The parish board of election supervisors.
 - (b) Clerks and their employees who perform duties in the election process.
 - (c) Registrars of voters and their employees.
 - (d) The secretary of state and employees of his office who perform duties in the election process.
 - (e) Commissioners, including the commissioner-in-charge.

§1467. Conviction in fraudulent vote cases; prohibition from employment in elections

Any person who has been convicted of any crime involving fraud or any violation of this Title while serving in the conduct of an election and in his capacity as a commissioner-in-charge, commissioner, watcher, or employee of a parish custodian of voting

machines, or deputy of a clerk of court or law enforcement officer, shall thereafter be prohibited from serving in any of the positions aforementioned in any election or in connection with any election.

§1468. Contributions in return for endorsement; prohibition

- A. No person shall solicit or receive funds nor any thing of value from a candidate or political committee and no candidate or political committee or other person shall pay any funds or any thing of value to any person for the purpose of endorsing, supporting, opposing, or securing an endorsement, support of or opposition to any candidate. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to prohibit the payment by a candidate, political committee, or other person, of funds or any thing of value to a person in return for the conducting, by such person to whom the payment is made, of a social function which is in support of or in opposition to a candidate or political committee of which otherwise seeks to influence an election.
- B. The terms used in this Section shall be defined as in Chapter 11 of this Title.
- C. Whoever violates the provisions of this Section shall be fined not more than one thousand dollars or be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than five years, or both.
 - La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 01-390 We do not find any statutory violations by making campaign items available such as shirts and caps with statements seeking votes for your election inasmuch as the Louisiana Supreme Court has determined such items "confer no pecuniary benefit" and are offered with the intent to publicize a candidate and "not to buy a vote."

§1469. Bribery of a candidate; crime defined; penalty

A. Bribery of a candidate is the giving, promising or offering to give, directly or indirectly, a campaign contribution to a candidate, political committee, or other person, or the accepting, soliciting, offering to accept, directly or indirectly, a campaign contribution, by a candidate, political committee or other person, with the intention that the candidate will provide or influence another to provide the contributor or another person a position of public employment, an appointive governmental position, a public contract, or anything of apparent present or prospective value.

- B. The definitions of terms in Chapter 11 of the Louisiana Election Code shall be applicable to this Section.
- C. Whoever commits the crime of bribery of a candidate shall be fined not more than one thousand dollars, or imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than five years, or both.

§1470. Political advertising; prohibition

Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, political campaign signs shall not be erected, displayed or posted on any publicly owned property or right of way, or to or on any public utility pole or stanchion.

- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 98-406 State law prohibits political campaign signs from being displayed on any publicly owned property or right of way. However, an individual cannot simply remove a sign that is illegally displayed in a public place. Removal of a campaign sign or other notices from public right of ways by an individual may constitute theft.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 00-391 A political sign cannot be displayed on a vehicle owned by the city.
- La. Atty. Gen. Op. No. 07-0160 Political signs cannot be displayed on buses owned and operated by the city.

§1471. Temporary restraining order; notice; hearing

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, a temporary restraining order shall not issue with respect to an allegation of any practice or procedure contrary to the election laws of the state unless notice is given to the adverse party and an opportunity had for a hearing prior to the local, state, or national election affected.

- B. After service of the notice, the temporary restraining order shall be assigned for hearing not less than ten days prior to the election.
- C. An appeal may be taken as a matter of right from a temporary restraining order relating to an alleged violation of the Louisiana Election Code. However, such an order shall be suspended during the pendency of an appeal unless the court in its discretion orders otherwise.

§1472. Election offenses informational packet for candidates

A. Each candidate who qualifies for election in any primary election shall be provided an informational packet concerning the election offenses provided in this Chapter by the official with whom the candidate qualifies. The informational packet shall contain a summary of such offenses, the applicable enforcement procedures for such offenses, and the penalties for violations and a notice that questions concerning election violations should be directed to the attorney general or his designee and not to the official with whom the candidate qualifies.

- B. (1) The informational packet shall be disseminated to each qualifying candidate immediately upon receipt of the candidate's notice of candidacy.
- (2) When the notice of candidacy is filed by certified mail, by commercial carrier, or by an agent of the candidate, the informational packet shall be mailed within forty-eight hours of receipt of the notice of candidacy, via United States Postal Service first class mail, to the candidate at the address of his domicile as set forth in the notice of candidacy.
- C. The attorney general shall provide for the preparation of the informational packets, including a summary of the election offenses and penalties for violations.
- D. (1) Except as provided in Paragraph (B)(2) of this Section, the informational packets concerning election offenses shall be disseminated at the same time the campaign finance disclosure informational packets are disseminated to qualifying candidates as provided in R.S. 18:463. The same procedure utilized in disseminating the campaign finance disclosure packets shall be used to disseminate the informational packet concerning election offenses.
- (2) The attorney general shall provide a sufficient number of the informational packets concerning election offenses to the Supervisory Committee on Campaign Finance Disclosure who shall forward such packets to the officials with whom the candidates qualify at the time required for furnishing the campaign finance disclosure information to such officials for dissemination with the campaign finance disclosure information.

Penalties

Please note that some of the election offenses cited above are considered felonies and others are considered misdemeanors. Louisiana Revised Statutes 14:2 defines felony as "any crime for which an offender may be sentenced to death or imprisonment at hard labor." Louisiana Revised Statutes 14:2 defines misdemeanor as "any crime other than a felony." Both jail time and monetary fines may be imposed for election offenses.

Contact Information

If you see an election violation, please contact your local law enforcement agency and/or local district attorney. Any question or comment regarding election offenses and penalties may be directed to my office in writing as follows:

Attorney General Jeff Landry Louisiana Department of Justice Civil Division Post Office Box 94005 Baton Rouge, LA 70804 Telephone: 225-326-6000 Facsimile: 225-326-6098

This public document is published at a total cost of \$2,600.97. 3,500 copies of this public document were published in this first printing at a cost of \$2,600.97. The total cost of all printings of this document including reprints is \$2,600.97. This document was published by OTS-Production Support Services, 627 North 4th St, Baton Rouge, LA 70802 for the Department of Justice to provide Board of Ethics with updated laws as they pertain to elections under the authority if Act 47 of the 2001 Regular Session. This material was printed in accordance with the standards for printing by state agencies established in R.S. 43:31. Printing of this material was purchased in accordance with the provisions of Title 43 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes.